# 2009-CA-01452-T

##

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Whether the Trial Court committed reversible error in granting summary judgment in favor of New Palace Casino, L.L.C.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. RELEVANT HISTORY

This matter stems from a sports bar on a barge called SportsZone owned by New Palace Casino, L.L.C. (“New Palace”) breaking free from its moorings during Hurricane Katrina and striking and destroying a Bay Point High and Dry, L.L.C. (“Bay Point”) marina. The sports bar broke free because New Palace failed to properly moor and secure the barge. Bay Point filed its Complaint in the Circuit Court of Harrison County, Second Judicial District, on September 21, 2007, and New Palace answered on or about February 18, 2008. Subsequently, New Palace filed a motion for summary judgment on March 24, 2009, and said motion was granted by the court in a judgment dated August 14, 2009. Bay Point has appealed the entry of said judgment.

### B. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Casinos exist today due to the strong resolve of several Mississippi legislators in spite of extreme resistance at the time of the creation of legalized gaming. “The battle over the bill [which legalized casinos in Mississippi] was fought in the 52-member state Senate. After extensive wheeling, dealing, trading, and pleading, the vote was 22 to 20 in favor of the bill. Ten senators took a walk. Thus, by a margin of 2 votes, with only 80 per cent of the Senate voting, the economic, political, and cultural makeup of the state was radically altered.” Toledano, Ben C. “Mississippi Gambles: The carpetbaggers are back.” National Review 7 April 1997: p.1.

The casinos have brought prosperity and opportunity to the Gulf Coast, but in the same breath, they have also brought misfortune along with them. As the casinos’ very existence on the

Coast is at the whim of the Legislature, the casinos should be held to a higher standard of care when it comes to preventing the type of damage that occurred in this case. The casinos are in the best position due to their vast resources to prevent their barges from becoming dislodged due to powerful storms that have ravaged the Coast and caused destruction for as long as the mind can remember. Irrespective of the numerous powerful storms that have struck the Coast in the past, including Hurricane Camille, the mere fact that the Mississippi Gaming Commission included a regulation that dictates moorings must be designed to withstand Category 4 hurricanes reveals that catastrophic storms as powerful as Katrina were foreseeable.

The Plaintiff, Bay Point, operated a marina and dry dock at 169 5<sup>th</sup> Street, Biloxi, Mississippi. The Defendant, New Palace, operated a sports bar on a barge moored in Biloxi Bay at the time Hurricane Katrina struck the Mississippi Gulf Coast on August 29, 2005. The sports bar barge was adjacent to the main casino barge of the New Palace Casino. The sports bar barge was attached to the main casino barge on one side and to immovable dolphins on the other with a sliding but otherwise rigid mooring. During Hurricane Katrina, the sports bar barge owned by New Palace broke free from its moorings, and the barge violently struck and destroyed the Bay Point marina. New Palace is liable for the damages caused by its negligence in failing to properly secure the sports bar barge. The failure to design, construct, and maintain a mooring system which could withstand a Category 4 hurricane in compliance with gaming regulations and United States Coast Guard requirements. Failure to moor the barge such that the barge could withstand known prior storm conditions on the Gulf Coast evidences further negligence. Additionally, New Palace negligently failed to secure the barge with secondary restraints in order to keep the barge on location even if the mooring system failed. Such unextraordinary, secondary restraints were successful in securing the Treasure Bay Casino during Hurricane Katrina.

Due to the negligence of New Palace, even after the general manager of the casino acknowledged that owners of vessels which have broken free of their moorings are liable for damage those vessels cause to others property, Bay Point's building was destroyed, while other similarly situated buildings remained standing. A witness who was actually in the Bay Point building and in one of the many miracles of Hurricane Katrina survived the destruction of the building and was able to swim out of the rubble to a nearby debris post and cling to that post for his life, recounts in his affidavit how he heard the noises outside of the building change from the sound of the wind and water to the sound of metal on metal and repeated violent impact of a large object against the Bay Point building until the support for the building finally gave way, knocking over one by one in a domino effect. He goes on to recount that from his position right near the building on his debris post the barge came directly at him and he feared for his life that the barge would run him over. As can be seen on the diagram attached to his affidavit, the only path the barge could have taken was directly over the Bay Point Building that just moments before had been standing.<sup>1</sup>

Engineer William Knesal, Jr. stated that "it would be a mystery if there weren't a casino barge that had evidence of having a close encounter" with Bay Point High's building. Everything that Knesal examined was consistent with the injury to Plaintiff's building being caused by New Palace's barge. Knesal could offer no other alternative for the trauma sustained by the building.<sup>2</sup> Further, Knesal examined the casino barge and found trauma consistent with the barge having struck Bay Point's building.<sup>3</sup> Summarily, Mr. Knesal is stating that **but for** the barge breaking loose from

---

<sup>1</sup>See Affidavit of Terrell Rawls [623-625].

<sup>2</sup>Deposition of Knesal p. 20-25, p. 33. [Knesal Affidavit & report???

<sup>3</sup>Deposition of Knesal p. 36. [KNESAL REPORT????]

its mooring, the Bay Point marina would still be standing to this day. The marina might have sustained some superficial damage, but the fact remains that the Gulf Coast would have the benefit of another local small business operating today if it was not for New Palace's negligence.

Additionally, similar structures in nearby locations, including Pelican Point Marina, and its Marine Travel Lifts withstood the damage of Hurricane Katrina.<sup>4</sup> Without damage from a barge striking them, these structures, although sustaining some damage below the water line, were structurally intact. This in conjunction with the on site witness, Terrell Rawls, supports the position that without the negligence of New Palace, Bay Point's building would still be standing.

The horrific account of Terrell Rawls, the testimony of William Knesal, the clear regulations of the Mississippi Gaming Commission Regulations and the United States Coast Guard regulations, the testimony of Defendant's own witnesses and the reports and testimony of weather experts and marine engineers all leave too many genuine issues of material fact to support summary judgment in this matter.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The Trial Court's granting of New Palace's Summary Judgment was based upon the determination that New Palace took reasonable measures when designing a mooring system to prevent foreseeable injuries and damages in the event of a hurricane. The Trial Court held that because New Palace's mooring system met, if not exceeded, the requirements of the Mississippi Gaming Commission, New Palace breached no duty owed to Bay Point.

The Trial Court also ruled that New Palace's violation of Coast Guard Regulations could not be shown to have proximately caused the destruction of Bay Point. Finally, the Trial Court ruled that

---

<sup>4</sup>Affidavit of Doug Cruthirds [534-535].

Hurricane Katrina was an “Act of God,” and New Palace could not have guarded against this unanticipated event.

Bay Point contends that New Palace negligently designed, constructed, and maintained a mooring system that could not withstand prior known storm conditions on the Gulf Coast. Although Bay Point contends that New Palace never actually complied with Mississippi Gaming Commission regulation,<sup>5</sup> the Trial Court erroneously ruled that satisfying the Mississippi Gaming Commission mooring requirement was the duty owed to Bay Point. However, the State Legislature never delegated the power to the Mississippi Gaming Commission to create legal duties, and therefore, the Trial Court’s implication that no duty is breached as long as the Mississippi Gaming Commission’s mooring requirement was met or exceeded by New Palace is fatally flawed and must be reversed. Additionally, New Palace negligently failed to secure the barge with reasonable, cost-effective secondary restraints in order to keep the barge on location in the event the mooring system failed.

New Palace also violated federal regulations when it failed to have the SportsZone barge inspected and certified by the United States Coast Guard prior to its use as a passenger vessel/gaming facility. Such an inspection would have required New Palace to take into account conditions encountered during one-hundred year storms. A jury would likely conclude that such a consideration would have required more stringent moorings and secondary restraints. There exist genuine issues of material fact to be resolved. Therefore, the Circuit Court’s decision should be reversed and this matter should be remanded for additional consideration.

---

<sup>5</sup>

When it came ashore, Hurricane Katrina was a Category 3 storm; the casino barge was supposed to withstand a Category 4 storm.

## ARGUMENT

### A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Mississippi Supreme Court applies a *de novo* standard of review of a lower court's grant or denial of summary judgment. *Lewallen v. Slawson*, 822 So.2d 236 (Miss.2002) citing *Hudson v. Courtesy Motors, Inc.*, 794 So.2d 999, 1002 (Miss.2001); *Jenkins v. Ohio Cas. Ins. Co.*, 794 So.2d 228, 232 (Miss.2001); *Heigle v. Heigle*, 771 So.2d 341, 345 (Miss.2000). Our appellate standard for reviewing the grant or denial of summary judgment is the same standard as that of the trial court under Rule 56(c) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, which states that summary judgment shall be granted if “the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact....” *Lewallen, supra*, citing *Hudson*, 794 So.2d at 1002; *Jenkins*, 794 So.2d at 232; *Heigle*, 771 So.2d at 345. This evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the party against whom the motion for summary judgment has been made. *Brown ex rel. Ford v. J.J. Ferguson Sand & Gravel Co.*, 858 So.2d 129 (Miss.2003) citing *Leslie v. City of Biloxi*, 758 So.2d 430, 431 (Miss.2000). Summary judgments should be granted with great caution. *Smith v. Sanders*, 485 So.2d 1051, 1054 (Miss.1986). Furthermore, the non-movant is granted the benefit of all inferences that can be adduced from the evidence. *Id.* When reviewing the evidence in a light most favorable to Bay Point, there exist genuine disputed material issues of fact, which require the reversal of summary judgment and trial by jury.

### B. THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY IMPLIED THAT THE MISSISSIPPI GAMING COMMISSION'S MOORING REQUIREMENT WAS THE DUTY OWED TO BAY POINT HIGH AND DRY, L.L.C.

The Trial Court held that New Palace owed a duty to the owners of real property in close proximity to the casino to take reasonable measures to prevent foreseeable injuries and damages in

the event of a hurricane. “This Court [held] as a matter of law that New Palace did that when it constructed a mooring system that met, if not exceeded, the requirements of the Mississippi Gaming Commission,” despite Bay Point’s proof that New Palace failed to satisfy the Mississippi Gaming Commission’s mooring requirement.<sup>6</sup> Therefore, the Trial Court ruled that New Palace breached no duty owed to Bay Point.

The Mississippi Gaming Commission is not a legislative body and cannot establish legal duties. “State boards and commissions are creatures of the Legislature and have no powers other than those delegated to it by the Legislature.” *Howard v. Estate of Harper*, 947 So.2d 854 (Miss.2006) citing *Masonite Corp. v. State Oil & Gas Bd.*, 240 So.2d 446 (Miss.1970). The Mississippi Gaming Commission was created by the Legislature to “adopt, amend or repeal such regulations, consistent with the policy, objects and purposes of this chapter, as it may deem necessary or desirable in the public interest in carrying out the policy and provisions of this chapter.” Miss.Code Ann. § 75-76-3. The purpose of the Mississippi Gaming Commission is to regulate licensing activities. Miss.Code Ann. § 75-76-1, *et seq.* The courts have held that the authority of the Mississippi Gaming Commission is limited and must not exceed the authority conferred upon it by the legislature’s enactment of gaming laws. *Mississippi Casino Operators Assoc. v. Mississippi Gaming Commission*, 654 So.2d 892 (Miss.1995); *Mississippi PSC v. Miss. Power and Light*, 593 So.2d 997 (Miss.1991).

The regulation states, “**as a condition of licensure**, that cruise vessels utilized for gaming on the Mississippi Gulf Coast, in the Biloxi Bay or in the Bay of St. Louis, that are not self-propelled, to be moored to withstand a Category 4 hurricane with 155 mile per hour winds and 15

---

<sup>6</sup>See Judgment, page 2 [911].

foot tidal surge.” (Emphasis added) (Miss. Gaming Comm. Reg. § II(B)(10)). The regulation was created as a “condition of licensure,” not for establishing a legal duty in civil actions.

A similar issue to the current one was addressed in *Howard v. Estate of B. Harper*, 947 So.2d 854 (Miss.2006). A plaintiff tried to establish a legal duty by directing the court to look to regulations required for licensure of a nursing home. An “institution for the aged or infirm” is required to obtain a license in order to operate legally in the state of Mississippi. Miss.Code Ann. § 43-11-5. The purpose of the licensing provisions is to “insure safe, sanitary and reasonably adequate care of individuals” while under the care of nursing home facilities. Miss.Code Ann. § 43-11-3. The statute gives the Dept. of Health the authority to grant and revoke such licenses, as well as promulgate regulations. Miss.Code Ann. § 43-11-7 through Miss.Code Ann. § 43-11-13. This is comparable to the Gaming Control Act’s granting of authority to the Mississippi Gaming Commission to regulate licensing.

In *Howard* the court noted that there was no express language creating a legal duty in the statutes or regulations. The court stated that the regulations issued by the Dept. of Health are a result of the legislature’s mandate to impose **licensing requirements** on nursing homes. “As the scope of sections 43-11-1 *et seq.* is limited to licensing concerns, any duty (or inference thereof) created by the regulations is unenforceable.” *Howard, supra*. In addition, the Mississippi Supreme Court has held in, *Moore v. Mem’l Hosp.*, 825 So.2d 658 (Miss.2002), that alleged violations of internal regulations do not give rise to an independent cause of action for damages and that although a violation of a regulation may serve as evidence of negligence, it does not, by itself, create a separate cause of action. *Estate of Hazelton v. Cain*, 950 So.2d 231 (Miss.Ct.App. 2007).

The Gaming Control Act states that gaming establishments must be licensed, controlled and assisted to protect the public health, safety, morals, good order and general welfare of the inhabitants

of the state and because regulation of licensed gaming is important in order that licensed gaming is conducted honestly and competitively, that the rights of the creditors of licensees are protected and that gaming is free from criminal and corruptive elements. Miss.Code Ann. § 75-76-3. The legislative act contains no express or implied language granting the Mississippi Gaming Commission the power to create legal duties. The Gaming Control Act created the Mississippi Gaming Commission to impose licensing requirements on gaming facilities. Mere compliance with the mooring requirement does not absolve New Palace of liability, although a violation of the mooring requirement may serve as evidence of negligence. See *Estate of Hazelton, supra*. The regulation is, at best, a minimum standard of care that must be met by New Palace, and the plain and simple truth is that the minimum standard was not met because Hurricane Katrina was a Category 3 storm when it came ashore. Accordingly, the Mississippi Gaming Commission regulation was not satisfied, and the Trial Court's interpretation that New Palace's compliance with the regulation established no duty owed to Bay Point was breached is a clear error in the application of Mississippi law.

C. THE VIOLATION OF THE MISSISSIPPI GAMING COMMISSION MOORING REGULATION SERVES AS EVIDENCE OF NEW PALACE CASINO, L.L.C.'S NEGLIGENCE

The regulations violated in this action are those of the Mississippi Gaming Commission<sup>7</sup> which requires that the permanent mooring of the SportsZone barge be able to withstand a Category 4 hurricane with 155 mile per hour winds and 15 foot tidal surge.

---

<sup>7</sup>Miss. Gaming Comm'n. Reg. § II(B)(10). Specifically, the regulation provides as follows:

**Section 10. Hurricane Preparedness Policy.**

It is the policy of the Mississippi Gaming Commission to require, as a condition of licensure, that cruise vessels utilized for gaming on the Mississippi Gulf Coast, in the Biloxi Bay<sup>7</sup> or in the Bay of St. Louis, that are not self-propelled, to be moored to withstand a Category 4 Hurricane with 155 mile per hour winds and 15 foot tidal surge.

William Janowsky, P.E., expert for Bay Point, has testified that in his expert opinion, the design of the mooring system did not comply with the Mississippi Gaming Commission Regulations at issue. Specifically, he stated:

Q. My question to you is if this was the design criteria for the New Palace Casino, in your professional opinion did the design of the mooring system of the New Palace Casino meet these requirements?

A. No.

Q. In what way did it not meet those requirements?

A. Because there are conditions coincident to those that weren't accounted for.

Q. Well, you're adding additional requirements that aren't mentioned in that report, aren't you?

A. I'm not. Again they are not specifically mentioned in there but they are going to occur as a result of those conditions so they have to be accounted for.

Q. To that end if we used the page 41 Gaming Commission regulations that you referred to earlier, is it your expert opinion that in order to comply with those stated regulations, a design would need to allow for wave action, lateral movement in addition to vertical?

A. Yes. I believe so. Those -- the two pieces of information provided in there are two a number of pieces that you need to perform the design. They're two important pieces but they're not the only pieces that are required.

Janowsky Depo., pp. 65-66 [553], 83-84 [557].

Janowsky's point here is that the design criteria of the Mississippi Gaming Commission, as interpreted by a qualified, prudent engineer, clearly require that wave action under those conditions

be taken into account. In this instance, it is his opinion that New Palace design was in violation of the regulation because such wave action was not taken into account. Intervening Plaintiffs' expert in naval architecture agrees with the opinion of Janowsky that the design of the mooring system should have taken into account wave action. Mr. Castleman states in his report that his firm "would have further considered the motions of the PMV in waves generated by hurricane-force winds. The PMV will heave, pitch and roll under the influence of these waves. . . [F]ull evaluation of wave interaction would have been considered in the design phase."<sup>4</sup>

In addition, Defendant's own expert<sup>5</sup> testified that in order to properly design to Mississippi Gaming Commission regulations, the mooring design must take into consideration the high tides experienced on the Mississippi Gulf Coast, such as the high tides generated by Hurricane Camille.<sup>6</sup> Accordingly, as there is expert testimony in the record that the mooring system did not comply with the applicable Mississippi Gaming Commission Regulations, this noncompliance should serve as overwhelming evidence of New Palace's negligence.

Furthermore, NOAA's National Climatic Data Center indicates that Hurricane Katrina made landfall as a Category 3 Hurricane.<sup>7</sup> The report of New Palace's meteorological expert, Richard

---

<sup>4</sup>See Report of Gregory Castleman, p.2 [501].

<sup>5</sup>

Terry Moran was not designated by New Palace in this case, but was used by New Palace as an expert in litigation with its insurance carrier, RSUI, on a Hurricane Katrina property damage claim

<sup>6</sup>See Depo. of Terry Moran, pp. 10-12 [562].

<sup>7</sup>

See NOAA's National Climatic Data Center report of October 2005 entitled Hurricane Katrina: A Climatological Perspective [369-396].

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