CASE NO. 2009-CA-01452

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BAY POINT HIGH AND DRY, LLC

APPELLANT

V.

NEW PALACE CASINO, LLC

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLEE NEW PALACE CASINO, LLC

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

(ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED)

J. HENRY ROS (MS Bar Notation)
Watkins Ludlam Winter & Stennis, P.A.
Post Office Drawer 160
Gulfport, MS 39502
Telephone: (228) 864-3094

Telephone: (228) 864-3094 Telecopier: (228) 864-0516

Email: hros@watkinsludlam.com

Attorney for Appellee

GARY A. HEMPHILL (LA Bar No Phelps Dunbar, LLP 365 Canal Street • Suite 2000 New Orleans, Louisiana 70130-6534

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

B. HURRICANE KATRINA WAS AN UNFORESEEABLE ACT OF GOD.

Under Mississippi law, the essential components of a claim based upon negligence are:

(1) The existence of a duty to conform to a specific standard of conduct for protection of other against an unreasonable risk of injury, (2) a breach of that duty, (3) causal relationship between breach and alleged injury; and (4) injuries or damages.

Rein v. Benchmark Construction Co., 865 So.2d 1134, 1143-44 (Miss. 2004)(citations omitted). "Duty and breach are essential to finding negligence and must be demonstrated first." Strantz v. Pinion, 652 So.2d 738, 742 (Miss. 1995).

Whether a duty exists and whether it has been breached are questions of law. Rein v. Benchmark Construction Co., 865 So.2d 1134, 1143 (Miss. 2004) Thus, this Court has held "the existence vel non of a duty of care is a question of law to be decided by the [trial] court". Id; (citing Foster v. Bass, 575 So.2d 967, 972-73 (Miss. 1990).

In determining whether a duty exists, the trial judge decides whether the injury is "reasonably foreseeable". Rein v. Benchmark Construction Co., 865 So.2d 1134, 1143 (Miss. 2004). Reasonably foreseeable has been defined by this Court to mean, "precaution... only so far as there is reason for apprehension. Ordinary care of a reasonably prudent man does not demand that a person should prevision or anticipate unusual, improbable, or extraordinary

occurrences though such happenings are within the range of possibilities". *Illinois Central Railroad v. Bloodworth*, 145 So.2d 333, 336 (Miss. 1933)(cited as authority in *Rein*). Thus, the very existence of any duty is limited to that which is reasonably foreseeable. Consequently, there is no duty to anticipate or guard against that which cannot be reasonably foreseen.¹⁰

Additionally, the law recognizes that "Act(s) of God", improbable and extraordinary events occasioned by the fury of nature, are the very type of unforeseeable events for which there is no liability. The Act of God defense is applicable to "events in nature so extraordinary that the history of climatic variations and other conditions in the particular locality affords no reasonable warning of them". *McFarland v. Entergy of Mississippi, Inc.* 919 So.2d 894, 903-904 (Miss. 2005). Hurricanes that cause unprecedented and unforeseeable devastation in a particular locality due to tidal rise or upriver storm surge constitute classic examples of "Act(s) of God". *Skandia Ins. Co. Ltd. v. Star Shipping A.S.*, 173 F. Supp. 1228, 1240-41 (S.D.Ala. 2001). Where the evidence demonstrates that a party exercises reasonable care and takes reasonable precautions in light of what is reasonably foreseeable, there is no liability for damages caused by the "Act of God". *McFarland v. Entergy of Mississippi, Inc.* 919 So.2d 894, 903-904 (Miss. 2005). This is precisely what was established by the evidence presented to the trial court.

One can hardly dispute that Hurricane Katrina is the classic example of an unforeseeable Act of God. As previously pointed out, Lieutenant Colonel Henning outlined specifically how Hurricane Katrina was unparalleled when compared with all other recorded hurricanes which previously struck the Mississippi Gulf Coast. The widespread and unprecedented physical

Appellant's blatant appeal to anti-gaming bias in its Statement of the Facts and its assertion that, "...casinos should be held to a higher standard of care..." have no legal basis whatsoever and no place in this Court. (Appellant's Brief pp. 1-2).

destruction caused by the hurricane is a matter of public record. An example that is particularly noteworthy, because of its proximity to the Sports Zone barge, is the concrete and steel bridge connecting Biloxi and Ocean Springs that was totally destroyed during the storm as was the bridge connecting Harrison County to Hancock County. In fact, virtually every structure from Biloxi to Bay St. Louis that was impacted by the storm surge was either destroyed or severely damaged, resulting in billions of dollars of property damage.

Hurricane Katrina was indeed unprecedented. That which is unprecedented is also by definition unforeseeable and an Act of God as a matter of law. That Katrina was in fact an unforeseeable Act of God as a matter of law is precisely the conclusion reached in a number of other Katrina cases in which summary judgment was granted against a property owner who sought to recover damages allegedly caused by the property of a nearby owner that was blown or washed away during the storm. The circuit court here reached the same conclusion, clearly the only conclusion the evidence allows.

Appellant does not attempt to refute the expert testimony and report of Lieutenant Colonel Henning. Rather, Bay Point makes a half-hearted attempt to obscure Henning's unequivocal testimony that Katrina was a truly unprecedented environmental event. For example, Bay Point argues, without supporting evidence, that the surge calculated by Henning as having been a record 23 feet might actually have been somewhat less than that since the model he used had a standard of error of a "couple of feet". *See*, Appellant's Brief at p. 12. Appellant doesn't take note of the fact, though, that even if the surge was slightly less than 23 feet in

See, for example, Lee Brother, LLC v. Crowley Liner Services, 2007 WL 1858744 (S.D. Miss. June 26, 2007); Royal Beach Hotel, LLC. Crowley Liner Services, Inc. 2007 WL 1499815 (S.D. Miss. March 14, 2007); and Defazio v. Chiquita Fresh North America LLC, 2008 WL 2788732 (S.D. Miss. July 14, 2008).

Biloxi, this would still have been far beyond anything ever experienced at that location and far beyond the MGC mooring criteria.

To say that a given measurement has a margin of error of a couple of feet means that it is equally likely, obviously, that the surge *exceeded* the 23 feet which Henning estimated. In fact, the testimony of Bay Point's own witness, Doug Cruthirds, supports this conclusion. Cruthirds was a principal of Bay Point and testified that the building in which it was located was three to five feet higher in elevation than New Palace but experienced 26 feet of storm surge during Katrina. (R. 788; RV8-28). This means that the Sports Zone barge would have been subjected to a storm surge of 29 to 31 feet, well in excess of Henning's estimate. Appellant's attempt to discredit Henning's uncontradicted testimony is therefore foiled by the testimony of its own witness and proves to be nothing more than a conclusory argument of counsel which cannot defeat summary judgment. *Smith v. Brookhaven Police Dept.*, 914 So.2d 180, 182 (Miss.App. 2005)(cert. denied Nov. 10, 2005).

Unable to dispute the meteorological facts, appellant next attempts to challenge the adequacy of the Sports Zone mooring system. Essentially, Bay Point argues that since the MGC regulations required the mooring system to be able to withstand a Category 4 hurricane and since Katrina was "only" a Category 3 storm when it made landfall, the mooring was *per se* inadequate. The argument totally ignores the uncontradicted evidence.

First, as Lieutenant Colonel Henning explained, the designation of the "Category" of a hurricane on the Saffir-Simpson scale is a description only of the level of its highest sustained winds. That is, the Saffir-Simpson scale is a wind scale only, and has nothing to do with storm surge or wave levels. (R. 800-801). This is why the MGC regulation is written in the conjunctive – mooring systems must be able to withstand a Category 4 hurricane <u>and</u> a storm

surge of 15 feet.¹² As has been shown without contradiction, the storm surge at the Sports Zone barge location was 23 feet, and perhaps even higher, not counting wave heights of several additional feet.

Second, appellant's own "expert", William Janowsky, admitted that the Sports Zone mooring system met the MGC requirements that the mooring system be able to withstand a Category 4 storm and a storm surge of 15 feet. (R. 327-28). This admission disposes of the issue.

The undisputed facts in the record are really quite simple: New Palace hired a competent and experienced professional engineer licensed by the state of Mississippi to design the barge mooring system. The engineer was instructed to design and build the system to comply with the only regulation which specified a design criteria, namely that promulgated by the Mississippi Gaming Commission. The uncontradicted evidence presented to the circuit court was that the system, as built, was capable of withstanding winds of 155 mph and a storm surge of over 18 feet, well in excess of the regulatory requirement of 15 feet.

Because it is unable to point to anything in the record which disputes these facts, appellant next argues that is was not enough for New Palace to meet and exceed the MGC requirements – it should have done still more. According to appellant's purported engineering expert, Janowsky, the mooring system should have been designed to withstand a storm surge of fully twice the regulatory requirement – 30 feet. (R. 730). It is probably no coincidence that Janowsky has never himself designed a mooring system at all, much less one to the standard he

The 15 foot surge level was not chosen arbitrarily. That was the level shown on the pre-Katrina FEMA Flood Maps which were based on flood levels experienced at Biloxi Bay during Camille. Obviously, the Mississippi Gaming Commission incorporated the FEMA Flood Maps in its mooring system requirements. Reigstad's report confirms this map and the 100 year historical flood data where factored into the mooring system design. (R. 339).

would impose on New Palace, and could cite no industry publication or scientific analysis to support his opinion in this respect. (R. 750-758). Stated simply, his opinion in this respect and appellant's argument are pulled out of thin air.¹³

Bay Point also suggests that Reigstad failed properly to account for potential wave action when designing the mooring system.¹⁴ In a weak attempt to find support for this assertion, appellant cites a snippet of testimony of Reigstad and brazenly states it "seems to indicate wave action was not considered". Appellant's Brief at p. 11. However, as pointed out in the hearing before the trial court, counsel for Bay Point never questioned Reigstad regarding wave action when he was deposed related to his design. (RV8 44). Thus, such an assertion is nothing more than speculation and argument of counsel and not competent evidence that would preclude summary judgment. *Leonard v. Dixie Well Service and Supply , Inc.*, 828 F.2d 291, 295 (5th Cir. 1997)(ultimate facts, self serving assertions and arguments in briefs do not defeat summary judgment).

Finally, Bay Point argues without legal authority that the Act of God defense is inapplicable because New Palace failed to employ a "secondary" restraining system, i.e. one that only comes into play if the primary system fails. Application of the Act of God defense requires

For these and other reasons, Janowsky was the subject of a *Daubert* motion which was pending at the time the court ruled on appellee's motion for summary judgment. (R. 728-776). See also *infra* footnote 15.

Janowsky is also cited for the proposition that wave action was not considered. However, Janowsky never did any calculations whatsoever to support his testimony and opinions. (R. 750-754). It is fundamental that an expert opinion must be founded on data to be admissible. Glen v. Overhead Door Corp., 935 So.2d 1074, 1079-80 (Miss. App. 2006) (cert. denied Aug. 10, 2006) "Talking off the cuff - deploying neither data nor analysis - is not acceptable methodology". Id. (citations omitted). Indeed, expert opinions that merely "supply nothing but a bottom line, supplies nothing of value to the judicial process" and the trial judge exercising discretion is free not to consider such proof when passing upon a motion for summary judgment. Id. (citations omitted). Clearly, any observations offered by Janowsky were insufficient to withstand summary judgment as they were not based upon any technical calculations or data.

the Defendant to "take reasonable precautions and/or exercise reasonable care". McFarland v. Entergy of Mississippi, Inc. 919 So.2d 894, 903-904 (Miss. 2005).¹⁵ There is nothing in the record to direct this Court to any building code or applicable regulation which either required or even used the term "secondary restraint".¹⁶ That term itself is a misnomer since the example cited by appellant, the Treasure Bay casino, involved a primary mooring system, not a secondary one. (RV8. 45-48). Moreover, Bay Point offered no evidence that such a "secondary" system was either required by regulation or recognized industry standards, could have been designed or approved for use at the New Palace site or would have otherwise held the barge in place after it was ripped from its attachments to the main barge and the mooring dolphins by the colossal storm surge of Katrina.

If ever an Act of God occurred, it occurred when Katrina washed away the Mississippi Gulf Coast. No amount of foresight, pains or care could have reasonably predicted or protected from a storm surge that dwarfed all prior recorded storms in that locality, including Camille, the

Bay Point cites John W. Stone Distributor, LLC v. Bollinger Shipyards, Inc, 2007 WL 2710809 (E.D.La. 2007) as support for the proposition that more than reasonable precautions are required in order for the Act of God defense to be applicable and warrant grant of summary judgment. However, Bollinger is factually distinguishable from this case. In Bollinger, a permanently moored barge had broken loose from its restraining system before Hurricane Katrina. Since the owners knew the mooring system failed in conditions less than that produced during a hurricane, a dispute of fact existed as to whether additional measures should have been employed due to the prior failures. Bollinger, 2007 WL 2710809 * 2, 6 (E.D.La. Sept. 12, 2007). There are no such factual disputes in this case.

Incredibly, appellant relies in this Court on the report of an "expert", Gregory Castleman, retained intervenor and who appellant specifically stated on the record it would not call as a witness. Castleman's report should therefore not be considered as being part of the record subject to review on appeal. In any case, as with appellant's other purported experts, Castleman offers nothing more than conclusory opinions totally unsupported by any research or technical analysis. See, Glen v. Overhead Door Corp. 935 So.2d 1074, 1079-80 (Miss.App. 2006)(cert. denied Aug. 10, 2006).

benchmark storm, by an unimaginable 8 to 10 feet.¹⁷ Indeed, the Mississippi legislature apparently has accepted that there are no reasonable means to protect the public from hurricanes such as this, as it has now directed gaming to move ashore.¹⁸ The trial court properly held that there was no liability since "this was an unprecedented massive storm not foreseen by anybody". (RV8 46).

C. THE MOORING SYSTEM DESIGN COMPLIED WITH ALL APPLICABLE REGULATIONS

Ironically, Bay Point argues that the regulation which established the design criteria for permanent mooring systems of all gaming vessels does not establish any legal duty in civil actions since it was merely "a condition of licensure". Appellee's Brief at p. 8. Such an argument is curious when this Court considers that Bay Point urged the trial court to take judicial notice of a portion of the regulation.¹⁹ (R. 140-141). In fact, Bay Point, in its brief to the Circuit Court, stated...

The regulations violated in this action are those of the Mississippi Gaming Commission ("MGC") regulations which require that the permanent mooring of the Sports Zone barge be able to withstand a category four hurricane with 155 mile per hour winds and a 15 foot tidal surge.

(R. 468). Now it argues the opposite, suggesting the regulation has no legal effect.

Bay Point certainly did not foresee the possibility of a storm surge of such magnitude since it failed to remove any boats on its yard to safety. As Bay Point's Doug Cruthirds explained, "If water was to ever get in [Bay Point's] building, the whole Coast is going to be wiped out". He proved prophetic. (R. 810-811).

See, M.C.A. § 97-33-1 (b)(i)(ii)(iii)(approved and effective after passage October 17, 2005.) All other criminal statutes under Chapter 33 were amended to permit gaming in the 3 coastal counties up to 800 feet ashore.

Bay Point urged the court to take judicial notice only that the regulation required a mooring system to be able to withstand a category 4 hurricane. Bay Point did not wish for the court to take judicial notice that the regulation further required moorings sufficient to withstand a 15 foot tidal surge. (RV8. 13-18).

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